



# Vision + Action = Faithful Execution

WHY GOVERNMENT DAYDREAMS AND HOW TO STOP THE CASCADE OF BREAKDOWNS THAT NOW HAUNTS IT

Paul C. Light



# Vision + Action = Faithful Execution

WHY GOVERNMENT DAYDREAMS AND
HOW TO STOP THE CASCADE OF BREAKDOWNS
THAT NOW HAUNTS IT

Paul C. Light
New York University





### **PREFACE**

IN 1989, I WAS ASKED to chair the National Commission on the Public Service. The Commission grew out of a symposium jointly sponsored by the Brookings Institution and the American Enterprise Institute that concluded there was a "quiet crisis" in government.

Some 30 distinguished members—former high-level officials, political leaders, and management experts—then concluded: "Th[e] erosion in the attractiveness of public service at all levels—most specifically in the federal civil service—undermines the ability of government to respond effectively to the needs and aspirations of the American people, and ultimately damages the democratic process itself."

Paul C. Light was called upon as senior adviser and was responsible for much of the final drafting of that report. He agreed to play a leadership role on a smaller second private national commission on the public service I chaired in 2003. We then concluded that the "quiet crisis" had become deafening. As we stated in that report: "The federal government is neither organized nor staffed nor adequately prepared to meet the demands of the 21st century. … If we do not make the necessary changes now, when our needs are clear, we will be forced to cope with the consequences later in crisis after crisis."

Well, few of the needed changes have been made, and the crises in Federal management have become all too frequent.

With a sense of frustration, I decided in my "retirement" years to approach the problem once again. Instead of still another commission, I started a small nonpartisan nonprofit organization (which has come to be known as the Volcker Alliance) calling attention to the need for more effective government management, for stronger educational programs and more relevant research at our great universities, and for needed organizational changes. We do not aim at "high policy." What we do believe is what Thomas Edison insisted a century ago: "Vision without execution is hallucination."

Once again, I called upon Professor Light for help. His knowledge of past efforts at management reform is matched with his passion that our democratic government must function efficiently and effectively if it is to maintain the support of the American people.

In this paper, Professor Light calls attention to the embarrassingly long list of failures of execution of Federal policies just since 2000. I am well aware there are other—and more encouraging—successes in government management. They should be acknowledged and lessons learned. But it is my hope that exposing the recurring failures can catalyze attention to what needs to be done to effectively implement agreed upon "vision" of our public policy.

I also share Professor Light's belief that the conclusion we reached in the earlier national commissions on the need for reform remains relevant today.



# **CONTENTS**

INTRODUCTION	
WHY STUDY BREAKDOWNS?	2
Government's Greatest Achievements	2
Government's Most Visible Breakdowns	4
Table I Achievement in Peril	5
EXPLORING THE LIST	7
An Initial Reconnaissance	
Patterns in the Breakdowns	8
PLAUSIBLE SUSPECTS	
Table 2 Plausible Suspects in Breakdowns	
PROBABLE CAUSES	13
COMBINING VISION WITH ACTION	17
Table 3 Defining the Core Curriculum	
Table 4 Comparing the Disciplines	19
BREAKDOWNS BY DESIGN	20
STOPPING THE CASCADE	21
Applying the Brakes	21
Back to the Future with Paul A. Volcker	
APPENDIX A: Post-2000 Breakdowns	25
APPENDIX B: Probable Causes of Breakdowns	32



# INTRODUCTION

THE RECENT VOLKSWAGEN CHEATING SCANDAL is another sign that the recent cascade of federal government breakdowns is continuing. Although Volkswagen clearly lied about its scheme to evade pollution controls, the US Environmental Protection Agency had ample opportunity to catch the deception, prompting one senior official to promise after the fact that the agency's Office of Transportation and Air Quality would be "upping our game." If not triggered by the EPA, the breakdown was aided and abetted by the absence of aggressive oversight about a known problem with both Volkswagen and General Motors, which reflected understaffing, a lack of long-sought policy authority to regulate automobile safety, and even duplication and overlap with other agencies.

The Volkswagen case thereby joins a long list of troubling events that reflect what I believe is the continued weakening of the federal government's ability to guarantee the faithful execution of the laws. Just as one breakdown—including the federal government's sluggish response to the Ebola crisis, the misconduct of Secret Service agents, the failure to anticipate the rise of the Islamic State in Iraq and Syria—recedes from the headlines, another one emerges, often in a totally unexpected place. Federal breakdowns have become so common that they are less of a shock to the public than an expectation. The question is no longer whether government will fail every few months but rather where and how.

Government was not always so vulnerable. Consider any significant domestic or international problem that the nation confronted after World War II, and the federal government almost certainly did something about it—and often with great success. Government made impressive progress in addressing some of the most difficult problems of the postwar era. It worked diligently to diminish the effects of diseases including polio, cancer, stroke, and heart attacks—and did. It worked to reduce poverty among older Americans—and did. It worked to build an interstate highway system—and did.

However, these underappreciated successes cannot obscure the recent cascade of breakdowns. Government attempted to keep a watchful eye on terror, but it failed to prevent the September 11 terrorist attacks. It tried to answer the calls for help after Hurricane Katrina, but it failed to act with dispatch. It worked tirelessly to fill regulatory gaps and coordinate the confused federal response to the 2008 financial collapse, but it lacked the policy, resources, and organizational commitment to do so. It promised to care for the nation's veterans of war, but it failed to honor promised medical appointments at the Phoenix veterans hospital. And



it promised to keep a watchful eye on terrorism, but ignored the early warnings about the Islamic State in Iraq and Syria.

This essay asks four questions about these and other federal government breakdowns: (1) Where did government break? (2) Why did government break? (3) What caused each breakdown? and (4) What can be done to redress the underlying causes? The simple answer to these questions is drawn from the ancient Japanese saying that "vision without action is a daydream." Unless policy visions include careful discussions of implementation and administration, they no doubt will become daydreams as well.

# WHY STUDY BREAKDOWNS?

Some of my colleagues have criticized my research on government breakdowns as unduly negative toward public service and a distraction from more motivating stories about government success. "Why focus on the federal government's breakdowns when it creates so many miracles?" they ask. "Why not focus on government's successes instead?"

My answer is that the breakdowns reveal the effects of recent disinvestment in government's capacity to implement policy and provide warnings about future threats to faithful execution of the laws. Defined as a failure to faithfully execute the laws because of a bureaucratic failure of some type, breakdowns confirm the daydreaming that too often has led to tragic mistakes. It is one thing to develop grand visions of a future good; it is quite another to craft effective policies and provide the resources, structure, leadership, and organizational cohesion necessary to honor the promises made. Breakdowns provide one way to track the benign and deliberate neglect of government capacity, and in turn send a clear signal that "nuts and bolts" matter not only after a policy is made but also in the making of that policy.

### **Government's Greatest Achievements**

Breakdowns also help illuminate the peril now facing government's greatest achievements, which I began to study in 1998 at the Brookings Institution. The project was relatively straightforward: I first culled the *Congressional Quarterly Almanac* from 1945 to 1999 for major statutes, compressed the resulting inventory of 540 laws into fifty discrete endeavors, and finally surveyed 450 members of the American Historical Association and American Political Science Association.

The respondents answered three questions about each of the fifty endeavors. The first question was whether the given endeavor was very, somewhat, not too, or not at all impor-



tant—which I still think is the most important question that Congress and the president should ask. After all, why bother to create grand visions and government capacity to address trivial issues? The respondents rated the federal government's effort to expand the right to vote as the most important endeavor, followed by rebuilding Europe after World War II, providing greater access to health care, reducing workplace discrimination, and promoting equal access to public accommodations.

The second question asked whether the endeavor was very, somewhat, not too, or not at all difficult. This question comes directly from Alexander Hamilton's notion in Federalist No. 72 that government should engage in "arduous and extensive enterprises for the public benefit." Why bother to create grand visions and government capacity to pick the low-hanging fruit that is so easily harvested by others? The respondents rated the effort to advance human rights as the federal government's most difficult endeavor, followed by reducing workplace discrimination, increasing arms control, renewing poor communities, and containing Communism.

The third question asked whether the endeavor was very, somewhat, not too, or not at all successful, which focuses on the core link between endeavor and achievement. Why bother to launch a grand scheme if it is bound to fail? Although even the best-laid plans of mice and men often go awry, government cannot discharge its responsibilities without having at least some confidence that its plans will succeed. Respondents rated rebuilding Europe as the federal government's most successful endeavor, followed by expanding the right to vote, strengthening the nation's highway system, containing Communism, and promoting equal access to public accommodations.

Based on a final weighted score that combined the importance (30 percent), difficulty (10 percent), and success (60 percent) of each endeavor, respondents rated rebuilding Europe after World War II as the federal government's greatest achievement, followed by expanding the right to vote, promoting equal access to public accommodations, reducing disease, and reducing workplace discrimination. A new survey most certainly would change the order—some endeavors once ranked at or near the top of the list (e.g., protecting the right to vote) likely would fall, whereas others once ranked at or near the bottom of the list (e.g., providing access to health care for the uninsured) likely would rise. Moreover, new endeavors (e.g., the war on terrorism) would be added to a new survey.

The problem is that many of these former achievements are now in peril, in part because bureaucratic breakdowns undermine faithful execution and in part because of the "dysfunc-



tion" created by intense polarization. Federal agencies and employees make miracles happen every day, but miracles are in short supply as Congress and the president compensate for declining legislative productivity through backdoor legislative smothering at one end of Pennsylvania Avenue and easily erasable regulations on new issues (e.g., climate change) at the other.

Time has already worked its will on my list of government's greatest achievements and disappointments. As suggested in Table 1, all but two of the federal government's top twenty-five achievements in 1999 were in peril by 2015. The budget surpluses of the late 1990s were gone; voting rights were under fire; the financial markets were still reeling from 2008; the space program was mostly adrift; efforts to help veterans were clouded by budget cuts and the waiting-list scandal; the Consumer Product Safety Commission was still underfunded and overworked; the nation's highways, railways, and bridges were still rusting; childhood poverty was still high; the working poor were still struggling; and both Social Security and Medicare were becoming cash negative as wage growth sagged and retirements began to surge.

There were some gains on my list, however. Health care access for older Americans expanded with prescription-drug coverage; health care access for America's uninsured soared with the Affordable Care Act; the average lifespan increased with more effective treatments for cardiovascular disease; air and water grew cleaner and the threat from global warning finally stirred presidential action; childhood-obesity rates fell; and financial reforms strengthened the securities markets.

# **Government's Most Visible Breakdowns**

My interest in describing government achievements eventually led to a study of government breakdowns. Even as my list of government's greatest achievements began to decay, my list of its most visible breakdowns began to grow. I wrote my dissertation on the president's policy agenda and still consider myself an expert on the policymaking process but was nonetheless drawn into what Paul A. Volcker's 1988 National Commission on the Public Service called the "quiet crisis" in public service. I returned to the state of public service when Volcker's newly created Alliance for Effective Government asked me to reexamine the quiet crisis two years ago. Simply asked, had he been correct when he warned that a quiet crisis was coming, and what had happened to drive it forward?

Despite the federal government's grand success in turning bold endeavors into achievements, I concluded that the crisis was no longer quiet. It was deafening. Succinctly, Volcker's



TABLE I Achievement in Peril

	ACHIEVEMENT	GLOBAL Dynamics and New Threats	POLITICAL POLARIZATION AND STALEMATE	FISCAL AND ECONOMIC CONSTRAINTS	ADMINISTRATIVE DISINVESTMENT
1	Rebuild Europe After World War II	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
2	Expand the Right to Vote		Х		Х
3	Promote Equal Access to Public Accommodations		х	Х	х
4	Reduce Disease	Х		Х	Х
5	Reduce Workplace Discrimination	Х			Х
6	Ensure Safe Food and Drinking Water	Х			Х
7	Strengthen the Nation's Highway System			Х	
8	Increase Older Americans' Access to Health Care		Х	Х	
9	Reduce the Federal Budget Deficit		Х		
10	Promote Financial Security in Retirement	Х	Х	Х	
Ш	Improve Water Quality			Χ	Х
12	Support Veterans' Readjustment and Training	Х		Х	
13	Promote Scientific and Technological Research		х	Х	
14	Contain Communism	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
15	Improve Air Quality	Х			Х
16	Enhance Workplace Safety		Х		Х
17	Strengthen the National Defense	Х			
18	Reduce Hunger and Improve Nutrition		Х	Х	
19	Increase Access to Postsecondary Education			Х	
20	Enhance Consumer Protection		Х		Х
21	Expand Foreign Markets for US Goods	Х			
22	Increase the Stability of Financial Institutions and Markets		х		х
23	Increase Arms Control and Disarmament	Х			
24	Protect the Wilderness		Х	Х	
25	Promote Space Exploration		Х	Х	

**SOURCE** Paul C. Light, "Government's Greatest Hits in Peril," in *To Promote the General Welfare: The Case for Big Government*, ed. Steven Conn, (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2012) 173–186.



warning had materialized. The federal government had become ever more vulnerable to breakdowns. Although my conclusion is solely mine, it demonstrates what I believe to be a shocking acceleration in the federal government's production of highly visible mistakes, miscalculations, and maladministration. There are many examples of high-performing federal departments and agencies; however, the aging bureaucracy can no longer guarantee faithful execution of all the laws, and it has become increasingly unpredictable in where and how it will err.

Few will be surprised by the list of forty-eight breakdowns presented in Appendix A (page 27). Almost a quarter of them eventually became the focus of a historically significant congressional or presidential investigation. Moreover, all of them were in the news long enough to create national controversy and to stoke public interest. Although some may be surprised to discover so much public interest in stories such as the pet-food recall, the postal service financial crisis, West Virginia mine accidents, and US attorney firings, every event in Appendix A was in the news long enough to reach the Pew Research Center's News Interest Index.

Pew's nonpartisan index was launched in mid-1986 to measure the percentage of Americans following "some stories covered by news organizations" either very closely, fairly closely, not too closely, or not at all closely. These were not just any stories, however. They were the most visible stories that Pew's team concluded were driving the news at a particular moment. According to my count, Pew's team asked Americans how closely they were following more than 2,000 stories that had been in the news between 2001 and June 2015, including 250 stories about the situation in Iraq and Afghanistan; 150 about upcoming campaigns and elections; 150 about the economy; fifty about the war on terrorism; and 150 about presidential speeches, decisions, travel, and behavior in recent years.

According to a further search for stories that specifically addressed a government policy and/or administrative breakdown of some type, the public paid very close or fairly close attention to stories about forty-eight breakdowns during the period. Although most of the stories were in the news just long enough to be included in a Pew survey, the September 11 attacks and the 2008 financial collapse were in the news long enough for ten surveys during the period; Hurricane Katrina for seven surveys; the Abramoff lobbying scandal and the consumer-product recalls for four surveys; the Enron bankruptcy and mistreatment of wounded soldiers for three surveys; and the 2003 flu-vaccine shortage, failure to find weapons of mass destruction in Iraq, healthcare.gov launch, and safety defects in automobiles made by General Motors and Toyota for two surveys. The remaining breakdowns were



in the news long enough for only one Pew survey, but even these one-off breakdowns could generate very high news interest.

# **EXPLORING THE LIST**

Facing time constraints in their surveys, the Pew research team never asked about breakdowns that I might have included. In turn, I omitted breakdowns from my list that other experts might have included—not the least of which were the approximately 30 stories about federal budget fights, stalemates, and shutdowns. Although these issues may have contributed to my list and are certain plausible suspects in many breakdowns, the confrontations cannot be described as a bureaucratic failure per se.

Similarly, I did not include the sequence of events leading directly to President Bill Clinton's impeachment. I do not believe that there was any law or regulation that could have prevented the president's misconduct, and I cannot hold the federal government culpable either in whole or in part for his actions. Neither can I do so regarding the president and the First Lady's alleged misconduct regarding the White House Travel Office firings (i.e., Travelgate) or requests for confidential Federal Bureau of Investigation files on employees in the administrations of Presidents Ronald Reagan and George H. W. Bush (i.e., Filegate).

However, an event could only make my list if: (1) the event had been in the news according to the Pew index, and (2) the event had to be either preventable by government action or caused by government itself, thereby making it a government breakdown. Although every breakdown on my list involved some type of poorly designed policy, each one also involved a broad mix of other issues, including resource shortages, bloated hierarchies, miscommunication, bad decisions, organizational confusion, ethical misconduct, and failure to track potential problems. Policy was always a probable cause of breakdown but was never the sole cause.

### **An Initial Reconnaissance**

Despite the odds of replicating my list using the same data, the forty-eight breakdowns share four characteristics. First, most involved errors of omission rather than of commission. The federal government did not hijack the aircraft that killed so many Americans on September 11, 2001, but it did not imagine the possibility in time to prevent the tragedy. The government did not breach the levees when Hurricane Katrina came ashore in 2005, but it did not have the leadership or plans in place to respond quickly. The government did not design the Byzantine instruments that triggered the banking collapse in 2008, but it



had little capacity to eliminate the risk.

Second, some breakdowns stayed in the news longer than others. The failure to "connect the dots" prior to the September 11 attacks, prepare for and respond quickly to Hurricane Katrina, anticipate and prevent the 2008 financial collapse, and prevent the regulatory violations that led to the Gulf oil spill generated much higher visibility than the one-off stories of the Valerie Plame cover breach, the Haditha and Blackwater killings, the Vioxx recall, and Operation Fast and Furious—all of which were featured in only one or two Pew surveys.

Sustained visibility often generated multiple and nearly simultaneous blue-ribbon investigations. Although September 11 and the space shuttle *Columbia* accident each produced a blue-ribbon commission, the Gulf oil spill generated seven separate inquiries, including four in the House, two in the Senate, and one presidential commission co-chaired by former Senator Bob Graham (D-Florida) and former Environmental Protection Agency chief William Reilly. Despite the resulting inventory of hearings and final reports, I relied more heavily on newspapers, including *The New York Times* and *Washington Post*, for insights on cause and effect; the longer a story survived, the more likely a substantive piece would follow.

Third, the Pew index listed few successes against which to compare the forty-eight breakdowns, which is essential for confident conclusions about probable cause and consequence in each instance. Indeed, I counted only ten successes on Pew's post-2000 list of stories in the news, including three about early successes in Iraq and Afghanistan; three about the killings of Saddam Hussein, his sons, and Osama bin Laden; two about successful Mars landings; and one each about the capture of a senior al-Qaeda leader in 2003 and the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration's relatively rapid investigation of the Toyota floor-mat problem in 2007.

Fourth, some of the breakdowns contained elements of both initial success and eventual failure. The Federal Bureau of Investigation succeeded in identifying one of the Boston Marathon bombers as a potential terrorist, but never followed up on its lead nor informed the Boston police of the threat. "It's people like this that you don't want to let out of your sight, and this was a mistake," Senator Lindsey Graham (R-South Carolina) said of the bombers almost a year later. "I don't know if our laws were inefficient or if the FBI failed, but we're at war with radical Islamists, and we need to up our game."

# **Patterns in the Breakdowns**

As discussed previously, the forty-eight recent breakdowns account for a fraction of the 2,000



stories on Pew's list but confirm a recent rise, nonetheless. Moreover, as the following questions and associated answers suggest, this cascade will almost certainly continue absent comprehensive reform to stop the daydreaming that now plagues many government programs and agencies:

- 1. Has the number of government breakdowns increased over time? The answer is yes, and significantly so. A review of news interest surveys since mid-1986 reveals that the government had twenty-three breakdowns in the almost fourteen years to January 2001 (1.6 per year) compared with forty-eight breakdowns in the fourteen years since then (3.3 per year). Government breakdowns were relatively rare during the first decade of the thirty-year period but began to increase during the second decade and accelerated during the third. At the current rate, government will set a contemporary record in the number of post-2001 breakdowns under President Barack Obama. Government is currently running at 3.5 breakdowns per year, which means that the president will exceed the record before his successor is elected.
- 2. Did the number of breakdowns vary across the five administrations? As expected from the pre- and post-2001 comparisons, the answer is again yes. The federal government had four breakdowns during the final months of President Reagan's second term (1.6 per year), five during President George H. W. Bush's term (1.2 per year), fourteen during President Clinton's two terms (1.8 per year), twenty-five during President George W. Bush's two terms (3.1 per year), and twenty-three during President Obama's first six and a half years (3.5 per year). At the current pace, government may yet set a record in the average number of breakdowns per year before the president leaves office in 2017.
- 3. Did the number of breakdowns vary across first and second terms? The answer is again yes, and significantly so. Second-term presidents face a greater risk that government will produce more breakdowns. Government had a total of twenty-nine breakdowns during the first terms of Presidents George H. W. Bush, Clinton, George W. Bush, and Obama (1.8 per year), compared with forty-two during the second terms of Presidents Reagan, Clinton, George W. Bush, and Obama (2.9 per year). The differences are significant enough to suggest that government may be somewhat more likely to fail during the last few years of a two-term presidency. This is perhaps because presidents begin to lose focus, appointees begin to look for post-administration jobs, the opposition



party becomes more likely to undermine government performance in advance of an open election, and the media looks more diligently for bureaucratic mistakes. All these explanations make sense, but my view is that the lack of presidential attention and appointee turnover are the most important contributors.

- 4. Did the number of breakdowns vary across a government agency's primary mission? The answer is only slightly. By my definition, oversight agencies focus mostly on monitoring and enforcing regulations on entities such as banks, drillers, campaign funders, drugmakers, federal employees, and presidential appointees. The term operations focuses on providing day-to-day goods, services, and even protection to government beneficiaries, including veterans, taxpayers, uninsured people, and unaccompanied children who have crossed into the United States from Latin America. Based on subjective distinction, the post-2001 government breakdowns were more likely to involve operations (twenty-seven) rather than oversight (twenty-one). To summarize, Congress and the president may have increased the odds of bureaucratic breakdowns by underinvesting in government's administrative capacity regardless of the task.
- 5. Did more breakdowns occur during surges in demand? The answer is no. Government organizations were more likely to break down during steady demand (thirty-one) than during surges in demand (seventeen), which perhaps confirms the notion that surges sharpen organizational attention to risk. Steady demand, however, does not mean lighter workloads; it means only that government is not under siege at a particular point in time. Some of the agencies on my list were under enormous stress for years before they failed during steady-demand conditions, whereas others were under relatively light pressure for years before they failed during a surge.
- 6. Did more breakdowns occur because government failed to prevent a crisis before the fact or because government itself ignited the failure through its own negligence or deliberate misconduct? The split is almost even. Twenty-five breakdowns were started outside government by terrorists, corporations, lobbyists, contractors, scam artists, and shooters but could have been prevented if government had used the intelligence and policies it already possessed. In turn, twenty-three breakdowns started inside government with employee misconduct, lax enforcement, weak leadership, and simple



neglect. The nation had enough information to prevent the 9/11 attacks, for example, but not enough capacity and conscience to give wounded veterans the care they needed at Walter Reed Medical Center.

7. Did more complex breakdowns produce greater public news interest? The answer is yes. The eight breakdowns that crossed the 81 percent threshold in public interest averaged almost eleven checkmarks in my analysis of probable causes, whereas the seven breakdowns that fell into the 71 percent to 80 percent range, the nine in the 61 percent to 70 percent range, and the ten in the 51 percent to 60 percent range all averaged seven checkmarks. The eight breakdowns in the 41 percent to 50 percent range averaged seven checkmarks, and the six breakdowns in the 30 percent to 40 percent range averaged only five checkmarks. Either a more complicated breakdown generates higher public interest or higher public interest produces the type of sustained investigations that reveal more complex causes. Given my reading of the record, I believe the former explanation holds true.

The cascade of breakdowns described in the next section undoubtedly is rooted in broad demographic, economic, and social trends that have put greater pressure on the federal government to solve increasingly difficult, even unpredictable, problems with an aging bureaucracy that underwent its last major overhaul in the early 1950s. The federal government's vision appears unsteady as the world changes, and its action often is impeded by what the Founders called the "deadly adversaries" of government: cabal, intrigue, and corruption. Surveying the inventory of recent government breakdowns, Max Weber might even decide that bureaucracy is no longer the "optimum" form of organization for precision, speed, and clarity but rather the most vulnerable to breakdown, especially in the federal government.

# **PLAUSIBLE SUSPECTS**

The central question for this essay is why breakdowns occur. Without some sense about what causes what, reformers can only guess what might break the cascade. The result of this speculation likely will be minor improvement at best and wasted motion at worst. The key to successful reform is an indictment based on probable cause. However, the search for probable cause must begin with a set of plausible suspects.

Breakdowns occur for many reasons, not the least of which is that some programs are so



**TABLE 2** Plausible Suspects in Breakdowns

Design	Was the policy likely to address the issue at hand?
Degree of Difficulty	Was the policy particularly difficult to deliver?
Assignment	Was the policy assigned to a "high-risk" agency?
Budget	Was the implementing agency given sufficient funding to deliver the policy?
Human Capital	Was the implementing agency given sufficient staffing to deliver the policy?
Support Systems	Did the implementing agency have the appropriate administrative systems to deliver the policy?
Hierarchy	Was there a clear chain of command for ensuring the clear direction and accountability to deliver the policy?
Contracting	Were contracts adequately structured and outsourcing appropriately designed and monitored to deliver the policy?
Overlap	Did duplication and overlap with other departments and agencies reduce effective delivery?
Expertise	Did the senior leadership have the skills necessary to deliver the policy?
Decision Making	Did the senior leadership make effective decisions before, during, and after the failure?
Vacancies	Was the senior leadership in office in time to deliver the policy?
Alignment	Was the agency aligned in full support of the policy?
Misconduct	Was the policy undermined by corruption or ethical misconduct?
Monitoring	Was the policy appropriately monitored during implementation and ongoing delivery?
	Degree of Difficulty Assignment Budget Human Capital Support Systems Hierarchy Contracting Overlap Expertise Decision Making Vacancies Alignment Misconduct

complex that the odds for mistakes are high, whereas others are so poorly funded that success is beyond reach. However, complexity and funding are only two among many plausible suspects. Table 2 suggests at least five categories of plausible suspects in the forty-eight breakdowns.

Policy anchors the first category of plausible suspects. Congress and the president can easily set a future breakdown in motion by adopting meek solutions to major problems; rescinding or diluting policies that could have prevented a future breakdown; creating so much ambiguity that implementation cannot proceed; or even delegating action to a high-risk, vulnerable agency. Policies do not have to be perfect to be implemented, and Congress often gives agencies significant authority to "smooth the edges" of ambiguous statutes. Nevertheless, some policies simply cannot be implemented under the best of circumstances, let alone under the prevailing conditions that often exist inside government.

Resources—or, more accurately, the lack thereof—create a second category of plausible suspects. Congress and the president can lay the foundation for a future breakdown long before its occurrence by denying the budget needed to cover program costs and the staffing needed to draft even relatively simple regulations; by failing to conduct effective oversight or to oversee essential contracts; and by not providing the administrative systems needed



to track impacts, secure enrollment, and provide full transparency for every dollar spent. At some point, government simply runs out of miracles and reverts to the form created by deliberate starvation.

Organizational structure frames a third category of plausible clause. Congress and the president can undermine effective implementation by adding new layers of management to a federal hierarchy already filled with record numbers of management layers and title seekers, who slow the flow of information up the chain of command, sidetrack warnings of developing breakdowns as they move toward the top of the towering agency, slow guidance as it moves down, and deny accountability for sluggish implementation. In turn, these often-hidden blockades can create an overdependence on a faster but less accountable phalanx of contractors, produce distracting conflicts as agencies protect the duplication and overlap that undermines cooperation, and generate needless meddling and cross-checks that undermine effective implementation and waste scarce resources.

Leadership comprises a fourth category of plausible suspects. Simply put, leaders can and do create breakdowns through neglect, inexperience, and bad decisions. Some leaders enter office with little expertise in the subject matter at hand and negligible experience in making tough decisions during a crisis. Moreover, even the most talented implementers cannot make good decisions if they are not in office; arrive exhausted by a selection process that Hobbes might have characterized as nasty, brutish, and not at all short; and must start their twelve- to twenty-four-month stay by learning their agency's politics and the structure needed to halt a developing breakdown.

Organizational culture creates the fifth category of plausible suspects. Although *culture* is as difficult to define as it is to measure, organizations do adopt norms and tolerate behaviors that can easily lead to breakdowns. Some implementing agencies cannot agree on their mission—if only because they have more than one mission to implement. Other agencies have long histories of entertaining what the Founders called "cabals of intrigue" that create their own standards of conduct. These cultures have long been a source of breakdowns and embarrassment, and they prove the point that cultures of excellence and innovation, while exceedingly difficult to create, can be destroyed with a single incident.

# **PROBABLE CAUSES**

As the following analysis shows, possible suspects often work together to generate tragic breakdowns such as 9/11, Hurricane Katrina, and the Gulf oil spill. In doing so, they move



from being plausible suspects to probable causes. The only way to distinguish one from the other is to follow the investigatory trail wherever it might lead—even all the way to a disengaged president, a disaffected congressional committee, or an uninformed judiciary.

I followed the forty-eight trails discussed in this essay through congressional hearings, investigatory reports and hearings, in-depth news stories, government's own reviews, think tank analyses, occasional interviews with key participants, and final judgments of the thirteen blue-ribbon commissions that Congress or the president created to resolve doubts about what happened and to pinpoint opportunities for future prevention. These investigations involved difficult judgments about possible causes but were informed by the many indictments that were made before my tracking began—some of which led to firings and at least one of which resulted in a prison sentence.

I reviewed these records many times as I added and deleted the checkmarks in Appendix B (page 35). Conservative as I might have been, however, I assigned 357 checkmarks across forty-eight breakdowns for an average of slightly more than seven per breakdown. As shown in Appendix B, some earned more checkmarks than others. However, the overall indictment of government's ability to link vision and action provides an uncomfortable warning to those who favor smaller-scale reforms: There are multiple contributors to every breakdown and multiple breakdowns for every contributor and, therefore, multiple reforms that must be combined to create comprehensive reform.

Appendix B also offers rather uncomfortable advice for those who labor on behalf of alluring reforms, including more accurate performance measurement, new computer systems, more aggressive discipline, tougher hiring and pay freezes, and aggressive attacks on duplication and overlap: The time for these types of one-shot reforms is long past. There are simply too many causes and too little evidence of a domino effect to identify a single target for halting or even slowing the cascade.

Hence, I believe that the only way to address the breakdowns is through comprehensive, collaborative, and coordinated reform, which too many good-government groups eschew. Just as the forty-eight breakdowns involved many probable causes, so government reform also must address many probable causes. If a government divided cannot stand, an implementation system divided cannot end the daydreaming.

The following category-by-category ranking of probable causes provides an initial brief for comprehensive reform, and the short case studies provide examples of how the probable causes interacted in many breakdowns:



1. Policy was the largest contributor to the forty-eight government breakdowns, with ninety checkmarks, including thirty-one for poor design, twenty-nine for a high degree of implementation difficulty, and thirty for delegation to a damaged or vulnerable agency.

The 2013 healthcare.gov collapse illustrates the role of complex policies and weak administrative systems in breakdowns. The highly visible event earned seven checkmarks based largely on the high degree of difficulty associated with the website's promised launch, the lack of expert oversight, and an overdependence on outdated technology. The policy also was burdened by an almost impossible deadline that required nearly flawless delivery from a poorly coordinated collection of fifty-five contractors overseen by an inexperienced federal-program unit.

The website launch also depended on strong support from a Republican House that won a midterm majority in 2010 by promising to repeal the health care law. In short, the website was almost destined to fail, entailing battle after battle to secure full implementation. It was built on complex policy that could have been simpler, created a high degree of difficulty, and was delegated to an agency that had been waiting for a Senate-confirmed administrator for almost seven years. It is not surprising that the website from its inception may have constituted a breakdown in progress.

 Resources were the second-largest contributor to the breakdowns, with eighty-five checkmarks, including twenty-three for underfunding shortages, thirty-two for understaffing, and thirty for weak administrative systems.

The Consumer Product Safety Commission's "Year of the Recall" -2007—demonstrates the impact of underfunding and weak authority in a breakdown. Although the commission's 450 separate recalls of dangerous products might constitute a miracle—given its woeful understaffing—those recalls came after most of the cribs, building sets, toy ovens, dolls, and other hazardous items had caused injuries and deaths. The commission's failure to react quickly to the surge in dangerous products was based on the lack of authority and staff to inspect products before they left for the market, especially those made in other nations, including China. The breakdown also involved a hint of corruption in that commission staffers took multiple foreign trips that were sponsored and underwritten by trade associations and product manufacturers seeking quick movement to the market.



3. Organizational culture was the third-largest contributor, with seventy-three check-marks, including twenty-four for misaligned missions, eighteen for ethics and mis-conduct, and thirty-one for a lack of effective implementation monitoring.

The Department of Homeland Security's 2004 decision to raise the nation's terrorism alert level confirms the role of organizational culture and ethical misconduct in a breakdown. The color-coded system, rushed into operation within months in the wake of September 11, was implemented by a confused department built from twenty-two agencies in a bidding war between a Republican White House and Senate Democrats; it was eventually abandoned as a failure in 2011. Given the lack of clear guidelines for raising or lowering the alert level, the system also was highly vulnerable to political interference, which the White House exploited in 2004 when it pressured the department to raise the warning to high (orange) from elevated (yellow) only days after a highly successful Democratic National Convention. The former secretary of the Department of Homeland Security, Tom Ridge, acknowledged that pressure in his 2009 autobiography and described White House concerns about political fallout from a new al-Qaeda tape recording. Ridge wrote that he knew immediately that he must leave government to save his reputation.

4. Structure was the fourth-largest contributor to the breakdowns, with sixty-three check-marks, including twenty-seven for organizational thickening, eighteen for overdependence on contracting, and eighteen for duplication and overlap.

Structure may not have been associated with the largest number of breakdowns, but it was a probable cause of several of the most visible ones. Although the September 11 attacks earned twelve checkmarks for a long list of probable causes, they underscore the impact of unwieldy bureaucratic structure in a breakdown. According to the National Commission on Terrorist Attacks Upon the United States, chaired by former New Jersey Governor Thomas Kean and former Representative Lee Hamilton, the September 11 attacks reflected failures in imagination, policy, capabilities, and management.

However, based on my reading of the final report of the National Commission on Terrorist Attacks Upon the United States, the breakdown was caused largely by the intelligence community's unwieldy structure and was abetted by the lack of clear policy to address the



terrorist threat; the lack of funding, staff, and administrative systems; and hoarding across the intelligence community. The commission's sweeping summary of what it learned about the multiple contributors to the breakdown is as follows:

We learned that the institutions charged with protecting our borders, civil aviation, and national security did not understand how grave this threat could be, and did not adjust their policies, plans, and practices to deter or defeat it. We learned of fault lines within our government—between foreign and domestic intelligence, and between and within agencies. We learned of the pervasive problems of managing and sharing information across a large and unwieldy government that had been built in a different era to confront different dangers.

5. Leadership was at the bottom of the list of contributors to breakdowns, with forty-six checkmarks, including twelve for weak leadership, twenty-eight for poor decisions, and only six for vacancies and delays in filling essential positions.

The government's sluggish response to Hurricane Katrina illustrates the combined effects of multiple failures in a single breakdown. The breakdown earned fourteen checkmarks due to unqualified leadership, confusing policy, bureaucratic vulnerability caused by the Department of Homeland Security merger, poor decisions, underfunding, and incompetence in the critical hours following the disastrous event. According to my reading of the House, Senate, and presidential investigations, the poor response also was driven by the lack of a fully developed national disaster-response plan; vacancies throughout the agency; and unrelenting confusion about who was responsible for what across federal, state, and local agencies.

# **COMBINING VISION WITH ACTION**

Much as Congress and the president might want the one best way to prevent future breakdowns, I did not find it. I could argue easily, for example, that policy design almost always precedes breakdowns—if only because the textbooks say so. However, the fact is that policy design often follows other breakdowns as Congress and the president try to prevent future problems that involve resources, structure, leadership, and culture. The only way to reduce the potential for breakdowns is to reform government as a whole. The time for tinkering on individual causes has long since passed.

Ultimately, I believe the only way to prevent future breakdowns is to integrate policy



design (vision) and implementation (action) at the onset of the policymaking process. If day-dreams are built on vision without action, then what good is even the most elegant vision? Moreover, if action moves forward without vision, what purpose does it serve? Yet, vision and action rarely meet before the vision is cast. Action is assumed and only rarely considered.

This tendency to separate vision and action is easy to identify in the federal policymaking process, in which legislation is drafted, edited, enacted, and signed into law with little or no testimony about implementation. The Congressional Budget Office and Government Accountability Office rarely communicate about their expertise in policy design and implementation, respectively; the government's experts in policy and planning rarely talk to their colleagues in budget and management; and the "M" in the Office of Management and Budget rarely talks to the "B," nor does the "M" have significant staff left to do the talking. The vast array of policy advocates rarely communicates with the small circle of good-government reformers.

This distance is even noticeable in the nation's top graduate schools in public affairs.

**TABLE 3** Defining the Core Curriculum

		THE CORE CURRICULUM					
Type of School	Economics and Policy Analysis	Policy Process	Public Administration	Finance and Budgeting	Research Methods	Internship and Capstone	
PUBLIC ADMINISTRATION	17%	7%	35%	13%	19%	8%	
PUBLIC POLICY	31%	10%	20%	3%	24%	11%	
BLENDED (Public Policy + Public Administration)	25%	12%	24%	9%	22%	8%	

NOTE The list of core courses can be found on each school's website and were sorted as follows:

The top public policy schools ranked by *US News & World Report* in 2013 were Carnegie Mellon, Duke, Georgetown, Princeton, the University of Chicago, and the University of Michigan. The top public administration schools were American University, George Washington University, Ohio State, Rutgers, State University of New York at Albany, Arizona, Georgia, and the University of Kansas (George Washington was not ranked in 2013 because of paperwork problems but was in the top seven in 2011). The comprehensive schools were Harvard, Indiana, New York University, the University of Texas at Austin, the University of Washington, Seattle, and the University of Wisconsin, Madison. Though public policy schools teach some public administration and vice versa, this analysis is based on the primary focus of each school. That focus can be determined by the degree awarded by each school, its catalog and advertising material, and its core curriculum.

<sup>1.</sup> Economics and policy-analysis courses included titles such as economics for policy analysis, managerial economics, policy analysis, policy design, and all others related to economic analysis and the process of determining and designing preferred public policy options.

<sup>2.</sup> Public administration/business administration courses included titles such as human resource management, organizational behavior, leadership, ethics, implementation theory, operations management, and others related to managing organizations and implementing policy initiatives.

<sup>3.</sup> Finance and budgeting courses included titles such as financial accounting, budgeting for organizations, and all others related to managing the finances and budgets of organizations and firms.

<sup>4.</sup> Research and methods courses included titles such as statistics, program evaluation, and performance measurement and management.



**TABLE 4** Comparing the Disciplines

Program Type	Public Administration	Economics	Political Science	Sociology and Anthropology	Other and Not Discernible
PUBLIC ADMINISTRATION	36%	9%	24%	4%	27%
PUBLIC POLICY	1%	40%	21%	2%	26%
BLENDED (Public Policy + Public Administration)	8%	30%	18%	5%	29%

**NOTE** The primary discipline was determined by reading the faculty biographies on each school's website, with special emphasis on the core discipline of faculty members' PhD, their teaching interests and courses, and a sampling of their publications.

Although all of these schools focus on public service careers, their students often receive different skills depending on whether they attend programs in public administration, public policy, or blend the two fields into a more comprehensive package.

As Table 3 shows, public policy schools require students to take almost twice as many economics and policy-analysis courses as the public administration schools, whereas those schools require students to take almost twice as many public administration courses as the public policy schools. In turn, the comprehensive schools require students to take approximately equal numbers of policy-analysis and public administration courses, which confirms their designation as comprehensive.

The three kinds of schools also favor different academic disciplines. As Table 4 suggests, 40 percent of public policy faculty members have doctorates in economics, compared with only 9 percent of public administration faculties. In turn, only 1 percent of public policy faculties have doctorates in public administration, compared with 36 percent of public administration faculties.

All three types of schools have approximately equal numbers of political scientists, sociologists, anthropologists, historians, lawyers, scientists, physicians, and so forth, but the comprehensive schools are almost as heavily anchored in economics as their public policy peers. As the curriculum analysis shows, the public policy and blended schools are concerned about implementation and management. However, these courses are more likely to be taught either from an economist's perspective or by a clinical professor with no chance of tenure. This does not mean that the instruction is biased or the subject is disparaged; however, the faculty distribution suggests that many of the nation's top programs tend to produce more policy designers than implementers.



# **BREAKDOWNS BY DESIGN**

Not all forty-eight breakdowns on my list were accidents. To the contrary, most were the predictable consequence of decisions made by Congress and the president in the messy processes of creating, amending, and repealing policy. Some of the breakdowns also were carefully designed through backdoor budget cuts, hiring freezes, sequesters, duplication and overlap, and a host of administrative ills that were and still are well-known to Congress and the president but have yet to garner careful attention.

The blame for inaction falls on congressional Republicans and the president alike. The Republicans have done everything in their power to undermine performance. They have never met a freeze or cut they could not embrace, they have repeatedly stonewalled needed policy changes, and they have made implementation of new programs as difficult as possible. The Republicans have cut budgets, staffs, and collateral capacity to a minimum, proving the adage that the logical extension of doing more with less is doing everything with nothing. They have used the presidential-appointments process to decapitate key agencies and have appointed more than their share of unqualified executives. Furthermore, they have muddied mission, tolerated unethical conduct, and gamed the performance-measure process to guarantee failing scores for a host of government policies that they oppose but cannot repeal through constitutional means. The repeal is de facto, not de jure—by practice, or the lack thereof, and not by law, or the lack thereof as well. Republicans may delight in the "perp walks" of disgraced presidential appointees caught in their investigatory crosshairs, but they have done little to address the problems.

Notwithstanding this two-decade Republican assault, I suspect the Founders would hold their harshest criticism for Presidents George W. Bush and Barack Obama. After all, the president, not Congress, has the constitutional responsibility to "take care that the laws be faithfully executed." The Founders might applaud President Obama's 2011 promise to give Americans a "more competent and more efficient government," but they also might ask why he never followed up on his promise. The president was justified in complaining that Congress would not give him the reorganization authority that past presidents used for comprehensive reform, but he could have moved in other ways, like many of his predecessors did. Would it have been difficult? Absolutely. Did he even try? Not too hard. Ironically, reform was well within reach—if only because comprehensive action could have produced \$1 trillion or more in savings, which then could have been used for the budget battles.

Like his predecessors, President Obama could have easily won reform through the ordi-



nary legislative process. Even though President Jimmy Carter had reorganization authority, he chose the legislative option for the 1978 Civil Service Reform Act and the 1979 Regulatory Flexibility Act; President George H. W. Bush used it for the 1989 Whistleblower Protection Act and the 1990 Pay Comparability Act; and President Clinton used it to generate agreement on the 1993 Government and Results Act and his 1994 reinventing-government package. Committed presidents and congressional leaders can always find a path to reform, but they have to want implementation badly enough to try.

Congressional Democrats also contributed to the breakdowns, inventing many of the disinvestment tactics that the Republicans used after they retook the House majority in 1995. However, the Democratic contribution to the cascade of breakdowns was more one of omission, whereas the Republican contribution was one of deliberate commission. Although Democrats conducted more serious investigations of the 2008 financial catastrophe and the Gulf oil spill than Republicans might have, they refused to put comprehensive government reform on the agenda or to push President Obama toward more aggressive action to prevent his second-term breakdowns.

Thus, with the president quietly seething about the latest breakdown but doing little to prevent more in the future, congressional Republicans started to repeal the easy way—by cutting administrative funding, blocking needed appointments, freezing the hiring process, increasing the degree of difficulty in implementation, and heightening the very duplication and overlap they decried on the campaign trail. As for the treasured source of previous reform legislation, the new Republican majority allowed the once-proud House Government Operations Committee to fall into disrepute as a playground for frivolous investigations and bureaucratic harassment.

# STOPPING THE CASCADE

The political dysfunction underpinning the cascade of breakdowns is not only "worse than it looks," as my colleagues Thomas E. Mann and Norman J. Ornstein have argued, but also more destructive to the faithful execution of the laws than imagined. Moreover, the threat to future government performance is destined to accelerate if the bitter polarization between the two parties continues.

# **Applying the Brakes**

The question is whether Congress and the president can do anything to prevent future break-



downs, including the one that is almost certain to occur within the first six months of the next presidency. I believe the answer is yes—but only if the nation's leaders put vision and action on the agenda throughout the policymaking process.

They could start by simply adding an implementation assessment to every proposal headed toward the House or Senate floor for final approval and to every rule about to be forwarded to the *Federal Register* for notice and comment. The president and Congress could easily order their support agencies (e.g., Government Accountability Office, Congressional Budget Office, and Office of Management and Budget) to begin asking implementation questions at the beginning of the process and to provide final ratings for every policy headed toward final passage.

Congress also would be well within its authority to order the federal inspectors general to prepare implementation ratings for major legislation. After all, these quasi-independent officers have full statutory-access rights to all information and full authority to assess obstacles to the economy and efficiency of government, including the prevention of any threats to performance.

Congress and the president also could order their support agencies, committees, and appropriators to develop estimates that might be used to create set-asides to cover implementation costs, such as bridge funding, additional staff, and new technologies to ensure immediate action. They even could use these reviews to set reasonable make-or-break points for each implementation process, which would create timely opportunities to set new implementation targets, increase set-asides, and offer privileged perfecting amendments to adjust policy to reduce vulnerability.

These are only small steps in forcing a long-needed integration of vision and action. Congress and the president will need to think comprehensively about addressing the probable causes reviewed in this report, but they are fully capable of collecting the information necessary to do so. Most know that government desperately needs an overhaul. Every president since Franklin Roosevelt has taken the oath of office promising to create a government as good as the people, but few have delivered.

The next president is likely to follow tradition, with one important difference. The next breakdown is likely to occur within months, even weeks, of Inauguration Day. The new president can either get ahead of the breakdown by presenting a detailed reform agenda during the campaign and launching the overhaul in his or her first State of the Union Address, or wait for a wave of regret when the next breakdown occurs. I have no doubt that



a breakdown will happen in 2017; the only question is how early. My data suggest that it will arrive before June 30.

# Back to the Future with Paul A. Volcker

As the cascade continues and the failed implementation grades pour in one after another, Congress and the president will have little choice but to confront the threats addressed previously. Fortunately, they can find a ready-made reform agenda in the final report of the 1989 National Commission on the Public Service. Led by Paul A. Volcker, the commission's agenda is not only still relevant but could be copied verbatim. This would include another one-time pay increase for judges and senior career executives designed to close the pay gap with the private sector—and even tighter ethics reform that would relax the burdensome paperwork imposed on federal employees by eliminating the loopholes that riddle the current law and that created many of the breakdowns inventoried in Appendix A.

Dated though it may seem at first glance, the commission's warning of a coming crisis in government performance was sadly accurate, and its argument that the need for a strong public service was growing, not lessening, is even more prescient. The federal agenda has grown exponentially in the twenty-six years since Volcker and the commission presented the report to President George H. W. Bush in the White House Cabinet Room, and the need for imagination and energy has never been greater. As the report notes on the second page, "The simple idea that Americans must draw upon talented Americans to serve us in government is uncontestable." So also is the need for careful policymaking, adequate resources, inspired leadership, and zero tolerance for misconduct and confusion.

Fortunately, through his Volcker Alliance, Volcker is still available and willing to lead the effort. Furthermore, many of his board members and supporters are ready to help Congress and the president update the 1989 recommendations to halt the current cascade and bring the federal government into the twenty-first century. Even in 1989, Volcker's commission knew that the federal government was losing its capacity to turn endeavor into achievement and marry vision to action. However, the commission is undoubtedly shocked by the continued diminishment of government's ability to faithfully execute the law.

Perhaps ironically, Volcker led a second National Commission on the Public Service in 2003. Unlike the 1989 report, the second report never found its way to President George W. Bush: It was presented to the White House in a dusty fourth-floor cubicle occupied by a talented but undersupported senior budget officer. No one knows what happened to it, but I



suspect it was engulfed in the maelstrom of what would become the longest war in US history.

The reform agenda does not lack for good ideas—indeed, we might argue that the problem today is not too few proposals but rather too many that are too meek. Both of the Volcker commission reports contained comprehensive proposals for repairing the federal bureaucracy; thinning its needless layers; attacking its excessive duplication and overlap; and combining policy and implementation in the nation's leading schools of public policy and administration, its legislative committees, and the Oval Office. Volcker is well worth quoting as the final word of this analysis, for he captures the essence of repairing the schism between vision and action, as follows:

We depend on government in so many ways, often unseen and unrealized. But one can't help but conclude upon seeing our institutions at work—or, more accurately, not working to their fullest potential—that we need to make some fixes. These institutions, from the UN and the World Bank, to our federal, state, and local governments for that matter—are tools that can improve people's lives. We need them to run well. We have seen what happens when insufficient attention is given to understanding and mastering the basics of execution—the botched launch of healthcare.gov, the gaming of the veterans' medical scheduling system, and, of course, the failure of the financial regulatory system to prevent unacceptable levels of private sector risk-taking at the expense of the stability of the economy.

The issue for me is not whether the government is too big or too small. Neither is it the objective of particular social programs, such as the urgency of environmental concerns, the size of the military, and the proper scope of the National Security Agency. They truly are policy issues to be resolved by political processes and public debate. Regardless, however those choices are being made, we must respect Thomas Edison's warning: "Vision without execution is hallucination." This means government should run well; it should implement policies effectively and deliver them efficiently; and it should earn and redeem the public's support every day—and that holds true for all our public and international institutions.



# **APPENDIX A**

# Post-2000 Breakdowns

	BREAKDOWN	DESCRIPTION	YEAR	NEWS INTEREST	MISSION	DEMAND	FEDERAL ROLE
1	SEPTEMBER II TERRORIST ATTACKS	Despite early warnings, al-Qaeda operatives were able to hijack four commercial airliners and use them as missiles to attack the World Trade Center's Twin Towers, in New York City, and the Pentagon.	2001	96%	Oversight	Surge	Prevent
2	ENRON BANKRUPTCY	Enron Corp. filed for bankruptcy after misrepresenting its financial health through false statements and committing both securities and wire fraud. WorldCom and Adelphia soon followed suit.	2001	66%	Oversight	Steady	Prevent
3	SHOE-BOMBER TERRORIST PLOT	A terrorist attempted to ignite explosives hidden in one of his tennis shoes on a transatlantic flight but was subdued by the flight crew and passengers, who smelled the bomber's match smoke and took immediate action.	2001	54%	Oversight	Steady	Prevent
4	SPACE SHUTTLE COLUMBIA ACCIDENT	A breach of the space shuttle <i>Columbia</i> 's heat shield on reentry after a I6-day mission killed its seven-member crew and involved many of the same problems that had caused the <i>Challenger</i> disaster almost two decades earlier.	2003	82%	Operations	Steady	Ignite
5	IRAQI WMD	US forces were unable to find even a trace of the alleged biological, chemical, or nuclear weapons of mass destruction (WMD) that created momentum for the Iraq War. Specially trained US troops spent two years in the search before giving up.	2003	76%	Operations	Surge	Ignite
6	VALERIE PLAME COVER BREACH	A group of senior presidential advisers exposed Valerie Plame as a secret operative of the Central Intelligence Agency in retaliation for her husband's criticism of the George W. Bush administration's prewar intelligence allegations about Iraq's WMD.	2003	48%	Operations	Surge	Ignite
7	CODE ORANGE TERRORISM ALERT	The White House allegedly pressured the Department of Homeland Security to raise the nation's terrorism threat to high risk (orange) from elevated (yellow) just days after the Democratic National Convention ended. The department's secretary later wrote that he had been "pushed to raise the alert" to aid the president's reelection campaign.	2004	70%	Operations	Steady	Ignite
8	FLU VACCINE SHORTAGE	Flu vaccine supplies plummeted at the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention just as the 2004 flu season began and were late to recover because the agency had no contingency plan for such shortages.	2004	71%	Operations	Surge	Ignite



	BREAKDOWN	DESCRIPTION	YEAR	NEWS INTEREST	MISSION	DEMAND	FEDERAL ROLE
9	VIOXX DRUG RECALL	Despite warnings that its best-selling Vioxx painkiller doubled cardiovascular risk, Merck continued to sell the drug without any Food and Drug Administration postmarket review for almost six years before withdrawing it voluntarily.	2004	59%	Oversight	Steady	Ignite
10	ABU GHRAIB PRISON ABUSE	Prisoners at Iraq's infamous Abu Ghraib prison were abused and humiliated by US guards and contractors, leading to widespread publication of photographs from the incidents and later reports of similar abuse at the Guantanamo Bay detention camp.	2004	87%	Operations	Surge	Ignite
11	HURRICANE KATRINA	Hurricane Katrina made landfall in Louisiana on August 29, breaching the levees that protected New Orleans; stranding thousands of residents on rooftops, in the Superdome, and on bridges; and overwhelming the Federal Emergency Management Agency and state agencies.	2005	91%	Operations	Surge	Ignite
12	HADITHA KILLINGS	US soldiers from the Third Battalion, First Marines, killed 24 unarmed Iraqi civilians in Haditha after an improvised explosive device, or bomb, detonated beneath one of their Humvees. The platoon leader was charged with two counts of premeditated homicide, but the charges were later dropped.	2005	55%	Operations	Steady	Ignite
13	MINE ACCIDENTS	Twelve miners were killed when methane gas exploded inside a West Virginia mine; soon after, six were killed inside a Utah mine when the walls collapsed. Other mine disasters occurred in the interim.	2006	80%	Oversight	Steady	Prevent
14	US ATTORNEY FIRINGS	The Justice Department fired nine US attorneys without warning or explanation in an alleged effort to punish perceived voter fraud and corruption cases against Democrats.	2006	48%	Operations	Steady	Ignite
15	ABRAMOFF LOBBYING SCANDAL	"Superlobbyist" Jack Abramoff, who designed and eventually pleaded guilty to a complicated bribery scheme that involved at least one member of Congress and a senior White House official, was ordered to repay at least \$25 million in fraudulent billings.	2006	38%	Oversight	Steady	Prevent
16	I-35W BRIDGE COLLAPSE	Thirteen people were killed and 90 injured when an interstate-highway bridge perched over the Mississippi River in Minnesota collapsed during rush hour, partly because of a repair project to fix a flawed design.	2007	80%	Oversight	Steady	Prevent



				NEWS			FEDERAL
17	CONSUMER	The Consumer Product Safety Commission	YEAR 2007	77%	MISSION Oversight	Surge	ROLE Prevent
	PRODUCT RECALLS	issued 473 recalls during a surge in Chinese imports that entered the United States without adequate inspection, but it could not keep up with the flood of cheap and often toxic toys.					
18	CARE OF WOUNDED SOLDIERS	Wounded soldiers being treated at the Walter Reed Army Medical Center were abused, neglected, and quartered in filthy, cockroach-infested facilities. Further investigation revealed similar conditions throughout the veterans' health care system.	2007	62%	Operations	Surge	Ignite
19	FOOD SAFETY RECALLS	The Food and Drug Administration issued dozens of warnings and recalls of food products, including eggs, meat, peanut butter, peppers, and pet food, that had slipped through its porous inspection system.	2007	56%	Oversight	Surge	Prevent
20	ENHANCED INTERROGATION TECHNIQUES	Although the agency had used "enhanced interrogation techniques" (e.g., waterboarding) on detainees since 2001, the story finally reached the public and returned to the news two years later with further information released by the Obama administration.	2007	55%	Operations	Steady	Ignite
21	WARTIME COVER-UPS	Two stories of early wartime heroism were discredited: (1) the capture and rescue of Private Jessica Lynch in 2003, and (2) the enemy fire that killed Corporal Patrick Tillman in 2004. Lynch never fired her weapon before she was taken prisoner, while Tillman was killed by friendly fire.	2007	43%	Operations	Steady	Ignite
22	BLACKWATER KILLINGS	Operating under a contract with the State Department, heavily armed employees of Blackwater Security Consultants killed 14 unarmed Iraqi civilians. According to the FBI, the civilians were killed "without cause."	2007	40%	Operations	Surge	Ignite
23	FINANCIAL COLLAPSE	After years of making high-risk investments with little regulation, the banking system collapsed under the weight of toxic assets created by risky mortgage loans, poorly understood financial instruments, and a credit crisis that froze the economy.	2008	92%	Oversight	Steady	Prevent



	BREAKDOWN	DESCRIPTION	YEAR	NEWS INTEREST	MISSION	DEMAND	FEDERAL ROLE
24	MADOFF PONZI SCHEME	Despite specific information that Bernard Madoff was running an elaborate Ponzi scheme, the Securities and Exchange Commission never investigated his too-good-to-be-true success. Madoff was turned in by his sons and eventually convicted of a \$65 billion fraud that had lasted for almost two decades.	2008	60%	Oversight	Steady	Prevent
25	SOUTHWEST AIRLINES GROUNDINGS	Southwest Airlines grounded 46 of its older Boeing 737 aircraft to search for fuselage cracks. The groundings exposed the Federal Aviation Administration's porous inspection process, which involved lax oversight of its own contractors and the lack of a clear oversight mission.	2008	49%	Oversight	Steady	Prevent
26	FORT HOOD SHOOTING	Army Major Nidal Hasan shot and killed 13 people and wounded another 43 while shouting, "Allah is great," in a terrorist attack at Fort Hood, Texas. Hasan later described himself as a "soldier of Allah."	2009	78%	Oversight	Steady	Prevent
27	CHRISTMAS DAY BOMBING PLOT	A terrorist attempted to detonate explosives sewn into his underwear in the final minutes of a Northwest Airlines flight from Amsterdam to Detroit but was subdued by the flight crew and passengers. The secretary of Homeland Security later admitted that the watchlist system had "failed miserably."	2009	73%	Oversight	Steady	Prevent
28	GULF OIL SPILL	Failures to conduct thorough inspections were partly to blame for an explosion on British Petroleum's Deepwater Horizon offshore drilling platform that killed II workers. The failure of a blowout preventer created a leak far below that went on for 87 days and led to the largest spill in history.	2010	88%	Oversight	Steady	Prevent
29	GENERAL SERVICES CONFERENCE	The General Services Administration spent \$822,000 on a lavish four-day Las Vegas conference for 300 employees that included numerous scouting trips for advance planning. The conference featured skits, a clown, and psychic readings.	2010	39%	Operations	Steady	Ignite
30	POSTAL SERVICE FINANCING CRISIS	Faced with rising costs and declining volume, the US Postal Service hit a severe financial crisis that prompted proposals for closing post offices, eliminating Saturday delivery, streamlining staff, and privatizing completely.	2011	49%	Operations	Steady	Ignite



				NEWC			FEDERAL
	BREAKDOWN	DESCRIPTION	YEAR	NEWS INTEREST	MISSION	DEMAND	FEDERAL Role
31	OPERATION FAST AND FURIOUS	The Justice Department launched a program designed to follow illegal firearms as they "walked" across the border to the top of the Mexican drug cartels. However, many of the weapons were lost once they changed hands, and one might have been used to kill a US Customs and Border Protection agent.	2011	37%	Operations	Steady	Ignite
32	BENGHAZI ATTACK	The Ambassador to Libya and three other Americans were killed during an attack by heavily armed forces that launched what appears to have been a coordinated attack on the US Special Mission in Benghazi.	2012	76%	Operations	Surge	Ignite
33	SECRET SERVICE MISCONDUCT	Thirteen Secret Service agents who arrived in Cartagena, Colombia, 48 hours before President Obama was to attend an international summit spent their first night there soliciting prostitutes and drinking heavily.	2012	51%	Operations	Steady	Ignite
34	BOSTON MARATHON BOMBINGS	Aided by his younger brother, a known terrorist—who had been lost by at least two federal intelligence agencies—detonated improvised pressure-cooker bombs near the Boston Marathon finish line, killing three spectators and wounding 250 others.	2013	85%	Oversight	Steady	Prevent
35	NAVY YARD SHOOTINGS	Armed with a shotgun purchased only days before, a Navy subcontractor killed I2 people and injured three others after using a valid entry pass to smuggle the weapon into the Washington Navy Yard.	2013	66%	Oversight	Steady	Prevent
36	HEALTHCARE. GOV	Designed as an easily accessible portal to health insurance, healthcare.gov crashed under heavy traffic, resulting in long wait times, frozen screens, and uncompleted applications.	2013	64%	Operations	Surge	Ignite
37	TEXAS FERTILIZER PLANT EXPLOSION	An explosion at an ammonium-nitrate plant killed I4 residents and destroyed most of the surrounding town of West, Texas. The US Chemical Safety Board blamed all levels of government for failing to identify the hazard and correcting it through policies that would have prohibited building the plant so close to the community.	2013	59%	Oversight	Steady	Prevent
38	IRS TARGETING SYSTEM	The Internal Revenue Service unit that was responsible for granting tax-exempt status created a public relations disaster by setting aside for further review applications from organizations with such names as Tea Party, Patriots, and 9/I2.	2013	50%	Operations	Surge	Ignite



	BREAKDOWN	DESCRIPTION	YEAR	NEWS INTEREST	MISSION	DEMAND	FEDERAL ROLE
39	NSA LEAKS	Edward Snowden stole 250,000 secret documents from the National Security Agency while working as a contract employee under the supervision of the consulting firm Booz Allen Hamilton. He later fled the United States and leaked the documents to major news outlets.	2013	50%	Oversight	Surge	Prevent
40	AUTOMOBILE RECALLS	Seven years after it rejected an internal request for an investigation of faulty ignition switches on the Chevrolet Cobalt, the National Highway Safety Transportation Administration ordered General Motors to recall 2.2 million of its cars for immediate repairs.	2014	64%	Oversight	Steady	Prevent
41	CHILDREN'S CROSSING	Starting midyear, tens of thousands of unaccompanied, undocumented children began crossing the Mexican border into the United States. The US government acknowledged that it had created the perception that the children would be allowed to stay once they joined their families already in the United States.	2014	63%	Operations	Surge	Prevent
42	VA WAITING LIST	The Department of Veterans Affairs came under intense criticism in May for long waiting times and secret waiting lists in providing outpatient appointments. Initial reports alleged that in Phoenix alone, as many as 40 veterans died while waiting for appointments.	2014	61%	Operations	Steady	Ignite
43	FORT HOOD SHOOTING II	Five years after the first attack on Fort Hood, an Army Specialist killed three people, injured 12 more, and killed himself over a seemingly trivial incident regarding a request for leave.	2014	57%	Operations	Steady	Prevent
44	EBOLA RESPONSE	The federal government generally ignored the growing Ebola crisis in Africa until the epidemic had become a global threat. The failure to act followed other incidents at the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention involving a breakdown in the agency's safety culture.	2014	53%	Operations	Surge	Prevent
45	SECRET SERVICE II	Two years after the Secret Service embarrassment in Cartagena, agents stumbled in a series of events that included shots fired against the White House that were never investigated, an intruder who jumped the fence and was not caught until he entered the White House, and drunkendriving charges against two agents who drove their SUV into a crime scene just outside the White House gate.	2014	45%	Operations	Steady	lgnite



	BREAKDOWN	DESCRIPTION	YEAR	NEWS INTEREST	MISSION	DEMAND	FEDERAL ROLE
46	ISIS	Despite early warnings about the Islamic State in Iraq and Syria, the Obama administration reportedly either lost the intelligence or ignored it until late spring, when ISIS seized control of Mosul, Iraq's second-largest city and a prize target during the long US war in Iraq.	2014	67%	Oversight	Surge	Prevent
47	GOVERNMENT INFORMATION BREACH	Hackers secured access to the federal government's information servers through antiquated security barriers. They stole data on at least 21 million Americans who had applied for security clearance from the government or its contractors over an unknown period of time.	2015	39%	Operations	Steady	Prevent
48	STATE DEPARTMENT E-MAIL SECURITY	Secretary of State Hillary Clinton allegedly created and used a private e-mail account to conduct State Department business in clear violation of US recordkeeping statutes. Ongoing investigations suggested that federal employees in other federal agencies also used personal accounts in violation of rules because their agency information systems were too cumbersome or outmoded.	2015	39%	Operations	Steady	Prevent



# **APPENDIX B**

# **Probable Causes of Breakdowns**

	FAILURE	E YEAR INTERES				Y	RES	SOUR	CES	STF	RUCTI	URE	LEA	DERS	НІР	CULTURE			CHECK MARKS
			FOLLOWING VERY OR SOMEWHAT CLOSELY	DESIGN	DIFFICULTY	ASSIGNMENT	BUDGET	HUMAN CAPITAL	SUPPORT SYSTEMS	HIERARCHY	CONTRACTING	OVERLAP	EXPERTISE	DECISION MAKING	VACANCIES	ALIGNMENT	MISCONDUCT	MONITORING	
1	September II Terrorist Attacks	2001	96%	1	1	1	1	1	1	1		1		1	1	1		1	12
2	Financial Collapse	2008	92%	1	1	1	1	1	1	1		1		1	1	1			11
3	Hurricane Katrina	2005	91%	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1		1	14
4	Gulf Oil Spill	2010	88%		1	1	1	1	1	1			1			1	1	1	10
5	Abu Ghraib Prison Abuse	2004	87%		1		1	1		1	1			1		1	1	1	9
6	Boston Marathon Bombings	2013	85%		1	1	1	1	1	1		1		1		1		1	10
7	Shuttle <i>Columbia</i> Accident	2003	82%	1		1	1		1	1	1			1		1		1	9
8	Code Orange Terrorism Alert	2004	81%		1	1	1	1	1	1		1		1		1	1		10
9	I-35W Bridge Collapse	2007	80%	1		1	1		1	1	1			1		1		1	9
10	Mine Accidents	2006	80%	1	1	1			1	1		1	1	1					8
-11	Fort Hood Shooting	2009	78%			1												1	2
12	Consumer Product Recalls	2007	77%	1	1	1	1	1	1	1				1		1	1	1	11
13	Iraqi WMD	2003	76%	1	1				1	1			1						5
14	Christmas Day Bombing Plot	2009	73%		1		1	1	1			1			1		1		7
15	Flu Vaccine Shortage	2004	71%	1		1				1		1		1				1	6
16	Benghazi Attack	2012	67%	1	1	1	1		1	1		1			1				8
17	ISIS	2014	67%		1	1			1		1	1							5
18	Enron Bankruptcy	2001	66%		1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1		1					9
19	Navy Yard Shootings	2013	66%	1	1			1	1			1		1				1	7
20	Automobile Recalls	2014	64%	1	1			1	1	1		1				1	1	1	9
21	healthcare.gov	2013	64%		1	1	1	1	1		1							1	7
22	Children's Crossing	2014	63%	1		1	1		1							1	1		6



# APPENDIX B Probable Causes of Breakdowns continued

	FAILURE	YEAR	YEAR NEWS INTEREST		OLIC	Y	RES	SOUR	CES	STE	RUCTI	JRE	LEA	DERS	HIP	CI	JLTUI	RE	CHECK MARKS
			FOLLOWING VERY OR SOMEWHAT CLOSELY	DESIGN	DIFFICULTY	ASSIGNMENT	BUDGET	HUMAN CAPITAL	SUPPORT SYSTEMS	HIERARCHY	CONTRACTING	OVERLAP	EXPERTISE	DECISION MAKING	VACANCIES	ALIGNMENT	MISCONDUCT	MONITORING	
23	Care of Wounded Soldiers	2007	62%	1	1	1		1		1	1		1	1	1			1	10
24	VA Waiting List	2014	61%	1			1	1						1					4
25	Madoff Ponzi Scheme	2008	60%	1	1	1	1	1	1		1	1		1		1			10
26	Texas Fertilizer Plant Explosion	2013	59%			1	1	1	1	1			1				1	1	8
27	Vioxx Drug Recall	2004	59%	1	1	1		1	1	1							1	1	8
28	Fort Hood Shooting II	2014	57%		1	1	1	1	1	1				1			1	1	9
29	Food Safety Recalls	2007	56%	1			1	1				1				1	1		6
30	Enhanced Interrogation Techniques	2007	55%		1	1						1				1		1	5
31	Haditha Killings	2005	55%	1	1				1	1		1							5
32	Shoe Bomber Terrorist Plot	2001	54%	1	1			1			1		1	1			1		7
33	Ebola Response	2014	53%		1			1		1							1		4
34	Secret Service Misconduct	2012	51%			1	1	1	1	1	1		1	1		1	1	1	11
35	IRS Targeting System	2013	50%	1	1	1		1	1					1				1	7
36	NSA Leaks	2013	50%	1		1		1						1		1		1	6
37	Postal Service Financing Crisis	2011	49%	1		1		1		1				1		1		1	7
38	Southwest Airlines Groundings	2008	49%	1	1				1	1	1			1				1	7
39	US Attorney Firings	2006	48%	1		1		1	1			1				1		1	7
40	Valerie Plame Cover Breach	2003	48%	1			1				1			1		1		1	6
41	Secret Service II	2014	45%			1	1	1	1	1	1		1	1		1	1	1	11
42	Wartime Cover-Ups	2007	43%	1									1	1		1	1		5
43	Blackwater Killings	2007	40%	1		1		1						1		1		1	6
44	State Department E-mail Security	2015	39%		1			1		1	1					1	1	1	7



# APPENDIX B Probable Causes of Breakdowns continued

	FAILURE	YEAR	NEWS INTEREST		POLICY		RESOURCES			STRUCTURE			LEADERSHIP			CULTURE			CHECK MARKS
			FOLLOWING VERY OR SOMEWHAT CLOSELY	DESIGN	DIFFICULTY	ASSIGNMENT	BUDGET	HUMAN CAPITAL	SUPPORT SYSTEMS	HIERARCHY	CONTRACTING	OVERLAP	EXPERTISE	DECISION MAKING	VACANCIES	ALIGNMENT	MISCONDUCT	MONITORING	
45	General Services Conference	2010	39%	1							1							1	3
46	Government Information Breach	2015	39%		1			1			1		1						4
47	Abramoff Lobbying Scandal	2006	38%	1			1	1	1								1	1	6
48	Operation Fast and Furious	2011	37%	1							1		1	1				1	5

Check Marks per Category	POLICY			RE	SOURC	ES	ST	RUCTU	RE	LE	ADERSI	HIP	C	CHECK MARKS		
	90			85			63				46			357		
Check Marks per Subcategory	DESIGN	DIFFICULTY	ASSIGNMENT	BUDGET	HUMAN CAPITAL	SUPPORT SYSTEMS	HIERARCHY	CONTRACTING	OVERLAP	EXPERTISE	DECISION MAKING	VACANCIES	ALIGNMENT	MISCONDUCT	MONITORING	
	31	29	30	23	32	30	27	18	18	12	28	6	24	18	31	357



### **ABOUT THE ALLIANCE**

THE VOLCKER ALLIANCE was launched in 2013 by former Federal Reserve Board Chairman Paul A. Volcker to address the challenge of effective execution of public policies and to help rebuild public trust in government. The nonpartisan Alliance works toward that broad objective by partnering with other organizations—academic, business, governmental, and public interest—to strengthen professional education for public service, conduct needed research on government performance, and improve the efficiency and accountability of governmental organization at the federal, state, and local levels.

### **ABOUT THE AUTHOR**

PAUL C. LIGHT is Paulette Goddard Professor of Public Service at New York University's Wagner School of Public Service and special adviser to the chairman at the Volcker Alliance. He came to NYU after serving as vice president and director of governmental studies at the Brookings Institution. He also designed new initiatives for civic engagement as the director of the public policy program at the Pew Charitable Trusts, educated future public servants as professor and associate dean of the University of Minnesota's Hubert H. Humphrey Institute, strengthened public management as a senior adviser to US Senator John Glenn and the Senate Governmental Affairs Committee, and oversaw the research agenda at the National Academy of Public Administration.

Light was also a special consultant to the 1988 National Commission on the Public Service, which was chaired by former Federal Reserve Board Chairman Paul A. Volcker, and has advised Mr. Volcker on public service issues ever since. He is a frequent commentator on public service, has testified on public service issues before the US Congress three dozen times over the past two decades, and is the author twenty-six books, of which four have won national book awards. Light is an internationally recognized expert on government reform, social innovation, and American national government.

This paper was originally delivered as a lecture in San Francisco, California, in September, 2015 on the occasion of his receiving the 2015 John Gaus Award and Lectureship from the American Political Science Association to honor a lifetime of exemplary scholarship in the joint tradition of political science and public administration.



### **BOARD OF DIRECTORS**

# PAUL A. VOLCKER CHAIRMAN

SHEILA BAIR

SHIRLEY CLARKE FRANKLIN

CHARLES ARTHUR BOWSHER

FRANCIS FUKUYAMA

MICHAEL BRADFIELD COUNSEL

NORMAN J. ORNSTEIN

WILLIAM "BILL" BRADLEY

THOMAS M. DAVIS

WILLIAM RHODES

WILLIAM H. DONALDSON

ALICE RIVLIN

ANTHONY J. DOWD TREASURER ANTHONY WALTON

This paper is the product of the Volcker Alliance. It is an important goal of the Alliance to produce reports that contain ideas, proposals, and recommendations for dealing with persistent governance problems in new ways based on independent research and analysis supporting constructive solutions. To stimulate this process and maintain project independence to make such conclusions and recommendations as they deem to be appropriate, these Alliance projects are commissioned to proceed without the requirement of approval of their conclusions and recommendations by the board of directors collectively, or by individual members of the board of directors.



# STAFF OF THE VOLCKER ALLIANCE

**MELISSA AUSTIN** 

**EMILY S. BOLTON** 

TALI CHAZAN

JACLYN DONAHUE

**ELIZABETH DONNELLY** 

KAELEIGH FORSYTH

WILLIAM GLASGALL

MELANIE MARTHA

PETER MORRISSEY

PRADEEP NAIR

**HENRY OWENS** 

AMY M. SMITHERMAN

**AMEY SUTKOWSKI** 

**GAURAV VASISHT** 

NOAH A. WINN-RITZENBERG

# The Volcker Alliance

560 Lexington Avenue, Suite 16B New York, NY 10022 (646) 343-0155

info@volckeralliance.org | www.volckeralliance.org